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  BURN AFTER READING


  To


  John Michael Arthur Farago


  


  “… your name burning past you like a pure lamp.”


  


  G. A. Borgese, from Dream of a Decent Death


  
    Preface

  


  Espionage has played a conspicuous and often memorable part in every war of history, but it was not until the Second World War that it became a kind of Fourth Estate of war. The nature and scope of this bitter conflict produced special armies that fought clandestinely behind the lines and on their own fronts. The true magnitude of this furtive contest can be seen, for example, from the casualties of Greece. Of the seventy-three thousand Greeks killed in World War II, twenty-three thousand died in conventional warfare — fifty thousand were killed in various surreptitious enterprises. In Norway, where the blunt phase of the war lasted only a few days, the underground war continued for five years, waged by an army of forty-seven thousand stealthy combatants. The Yugoslavs, fighting their hugger-mugger war in the black mountains, suffered greater losses than any of the Allies — one million, seven hundred six thousand men and women killed in hit-and-run actions.


  I trust it is clear that I am using the word “espionage” in a generic sense. While this book is the history of espionage during World War II, it also covers the whole curriculum of clandestine operations, the several forms of intelligence, espionage and sabotage, subversion and counter-espionage, the whole secret contest conducted apart from the formal and conventional operations of modern war.


  Espionage was practiced by both sides, but only on the Allied side was it such a vast enterprise. This is understandable; in the occupied countries of Europe and Asia it was the only opportunity for the oppressed to defy and harm the oppressor. It was this spontaneous rebellion born in the soul of men and borne by their indomitable will to freedom that endowed the dubious business with an aura of decency and that justified its larcenies and homicides.


  It was but a side show of the greater war, yet it was a war itself in all but name. The defunct Duce may not be a proper character witness on any other score, but on the essence of war he was an eloquent authority, refreshingly free of hypocrisy. Mussolini once said that war alone brings human energy up to its highest tension and puts the stamp of nobility upon the peoples who have the courage to confront it. Nowhere was the war more noble and courageous than in the resistance of millions to tyranny.


  It was largely this redeeming feature of the secret phase of World War II that induced me to write this book. A student of history can play no favorites. To the historian of espionage, a German spy performing his sordid functions for his country and cause is as proper an individual for study as an American agent spying for his country and cause. Yet in World War II there was a difference, and even the most pedantically objective historian is bound to recognize the distinction. I was inspired in this by General Sir Colin McVean Gubbins, chief of Britain’s Special Operations Executive, who wrote: “What resistance entailed through the long years of dreadful night in the occupied territories was a day-to-day battle with the Gestapo, the Quislings and the Japanese secret police, one long continuous struggle, with torture and unbelievable suffering and death waiting round every corner at every moment. Yet there were countless thousands who undertook the task, to whom all that mattered was their own eternal spiritual indestructibility. They dedicated themselves to a cause they knew to be higher than self.”


  Even so I have certain reservations. One who was as closely preoccupied as I was for years with such a romantic and emotionally supercharged activity inevitably develops a point of view, and I confess I did develop a certain bias. For one thing, I came to regard some of the business with a mild contempt, in the spirit of Virgil who warned that vice is nourished by secrecy. Much of the business is rather childish, a relapse of grown men into boyish antics, a nebulous pastime to which no adult who cherishes his full dignity and integrity should devote uncritical attention. For another thing, I could not wholly sanction the inherent deceit of the game. What usually began as temporary skulduggery frequently led to corruption that the ad hoc practitioners of the game carried like an ugly scar for the rest of their lives.


  This is evident today in the Cold War when espionage is rampant and is, indeed, its major implement. The dismal way in which the Cold War is fought, even by great nations of traditional decency, is the direct outgrowth of this wartime experience; it is the acceptance of something designed as a temporary expedient as an enduring instrument of national power.


  I did not try to eradicate completely this bias from the pages of this book. I refused to take the business of espionage too solemnly, as some writers do; they place too much emphasis on the heroics of the game and too little on its theatrics. I trust the reader will bear with me if I became not carried too far by the sheer melodrama of the subject and did not solemnize the exploits of all spies, but rather tried to view them with a sense of proportion.


  In view of the huge scope of this clandestine struggle, any narrative trying to describe it must be incomplete and inadequate. I am sure this narrative is no exception. In order to give a rounded picture, I had to deal with both the topic and the events selectively. I regret that limitations of space prevented me from dealing fully with all the resistance movements and especially the guerrilla war in the Philippines. I deliberately omitted incidents already very well known, such as the mute adventure of “the man who never was” and the case of Tyler Kent. Several well publicized adventures, like the penetration of Scapa Flow by a U-boat allegedly guided to its target by a spy, were omitted because they never really happened. I am sure that students of the subject will find many more omissions and also, inevitably, errors. While I apologize for any errors that may occur, I can only point to the obvious difficulty of getting everything straight in a business that is so crooked.


  This is the proper place to express my gratitude to my friend and colleague. Jay Nelson Tuck, for his invaluable and heroic help in editing what was a formless mass of manuscript into an organized and cohesive book. If ever an acknowledgment of this kind was deserved, this is it. His work on my manuscript went well beyond the usual editorial task. If there is some merit to this book and cohesion in its presentation, it is to a large extent his astonishing achievement.


  While this book deliberately refrains from drawing any conclusions, its facts — projected against the giant screen of current history — may still supply certain pragmatic lessons. The emphasis is on the facts. They are, as Churchill put it, so much better than dreams.


  


  Ladislas Farago


  New York, 1961


  
    1: “Operation Canned Meat”

  


  On the sultry night of August 10, 1939, hardly a passerby disturbed the nocturnal calm of Berlin’s venerable Kaiser Wilhelm Strasse until, shortly before midnight, rapid, heavy-booted steps sent echoes rattling down the famous street. The guard in front of the Air Ministry’s big gray edifice saw a tall man pass him by in great hurry, breathing heavily as he went. Since the stranger was wearing the uniform of an SS officer, the young airman saluted him with outstretched carbine and remained stiffly at attention until the man turned into Prinz Albrecht Strasse where the Gestapo — Reinhard Heydrich’s secret police — had general headquarters.


  In the lobby the man was greeted with a rush of jumping feet, clicking heels and Heil Hitlers. Swinging his right arm loosely in a relaxed version of the Nazi salute, he acknowledged the greetings and climbed the steps, going straight to the big office at the head of the staircase where Heydrich ruled supreme.


  This late disturber of the Wilhelm Strasse’s deceptive quiet was a Gestapo goon, Alfred Helmuth Naujocks by name. A brainless tool in the hands of a master craftsman, this apoplectic bully resembled Somerset Maugham’s “hairless Mexican” even to the point of scenting himself. He was a tall, heavy-set, big-boned, smooth-skinned man with a coarse, florid scarface, blonde hair and big pink freckles on his enormous hands. Naujocks was a star in Heydrich’s fraternity of assassins, whose mere shadow struck terror in the soul of Germany. He belonged to a new caste of secret agents whose activities behind the scenes infused the ancient war of espionage with the spirit of gangsterism.


  It was ten minutes past midnight when Naujocks entered Heydrich’s big, plainly furnished office. Heydrich beckoned him to a chair, got up, circled his subordinate and handed him the mission of his life.


  “I need not remind you,” he began, “that what I’m about to tell you is a top secret matter of state and must, therefore, be handled with the utmost discretion.” Naujocks nodded and Heydrich continued: “The Fuehrer has decided to settle the Danzig question once and for all and smash Poland. Both X-day and Y-hour are set. All is prepared — except a pretext for war.


  “What the Fuehrer needs, we will supply, you and I, my dear Naujocks! We are going to create the cause for this war!


  “We will begin the Polish campaign without a formal declaration of war, with a counterattack, telling the world that it was the Poles who fired the first shot. But telling it isn’t enough. Practical proof is needed, hard clues Goebbels can show to the foreign press.”


  Heydrich paused melodramatically before coming to the point: “We will simulate a series of frontier incidents and make it appear that the attacking forces were Poles.”


  He walked to a map on the wall and pointed to marked spots in Eastern Germany. “The incidents are to take place in this general area,” he said, “around Gleiwitz in Upper Silesia, and here at Pitschen, near Kreuzburg, at Hochlinden near Ratibor, and in Gleiwitz itself. We’ll put a couple of hundred of our men into Polish uniforms and let them shoot up places, burn farmhouses and run amuck for a few hours.”


  His bony index finger came to rest on a particular spot on the map. “Here at Gleiwitz,” he said, “we have a radio station. It will be your job to stage an incident there. Party Comrade Mueller is in personal charge of these operations. He has all the necessary details. You’ll find him either at Gleiwitz or in Oppeln. Report to him when you get there. Good luck!”


  Naujocks opened his mouth for the first time. “Thank you, Herr Obergruppenfuehrer,” he said, “for your confidence. Heil Hitler!” He stood up, clicked his heels and backed out of the room.


  “Mueller” was Heinrich Mueller, chief of the Gestapo under Heydrich. Naujocks found him in Oppeln, stage-managing the impending operations. When Naujocks arrived, Mueller called a conference of his seconds-in-command, and gave each man his instructions. A thug named Mehlhom was to direct the Pitschen branch of this bloody masquerade party with a hundred Nazis clad in the uniform of Polish regulars. Another, Langhans by name, was to storm the customs house at Hochlinden. To Naujocks, Mueller explained the attack on the Gleiwitz radio station.


  “You will pick six trustworthy SD men and dress them in Polish uniforms. At zero hour, you’ll attack the radio station and seize it. You need not hold it long, five or ten minutes at the most, just long enough to enable a man who’ll accompany you to broadcast an anti-German speech in Polish.”


  He went on: “I have here in Oppeln, in the Gestapo jail, a dozen inmates of concentration camps. We’ll use them to make these incidents look goddam real. We’ll put them in Polish uniforms and leave them dead on the ground as if they had been killed during the attack. They’ll be given lethal injections and we’ll also provide them with gunshot wounds. After the incidents, we’ll show them to members of the foreign press Goebbels is going to bring from Berlin.”


  Mueller told Naujocks he would let him have one of these dead “Poles,” complete with the lethal injection and gunshot wounds.


  “By the way,” he said, “we refer to these fake Pollacks by the code name of ‘Canned Meat.’” They laughed. “Operation Canned Meat” was off to a promising start.


  On August 25, Naujocks rehearsed the attack with his men, but without the dead Pole. Then he sat tight. At eleven a.m. on August 31, Naujocks was summoned to the phone. It was Heydrich, calling him from Berlin.


  “Naujocks,” he said, “the die is cast. It will start at five tomorrow morning. Your operation is to take place at 20 o’clock — tonight. You better call Mueller right away and ask him to send you one of his ‘canned meats.’”


  At 11:10 a.m. Naujocks phoned Mueller in Oppeln and asked for the fake Pole. At 7: 00 p.m. he sent his men to their posts near the radio station and at 7: 30, a car arrived with the “Pole.” He had had his injection and the gunshot wounds, and his face was smeared with blood, but the man was still breathing. At 7:50, Naujocks had the human prop carried to the main entrance of the station and arranged him on the ground.


  It was now 8:00 p.m. Naujocks looked at his wrist watch and almost casually gave the order to attack. A moment later, his six “Poles” seized the station and the phony “Polish” agitator stepped up to the live microphone. He shouted that the time had come for war between Germany and Poland and called on all patriotic Poles to kill Germans. The delivery was punctuated by a few staccato shots before the open mike, as Naujocks’ men fired into the air and into the “canned meat” on the ground, providing random sound effects.


  At 8: 07 p.m. the show was over. Naujocks and his “Poles” climbed into their cars and disappeared. They had given Hitler his excuse for war. Left behind on the ground was a man, now indubitably dead. He was the first casualty of the Second World War — truly its Unknown Soldier.


  At 5: 00 a.m. on September 1, 1939, the Wehrmacht crossed into Poland, all along the frontier, commencing a three-pronged drive. In that same split second, bombers of the Luftwaffe appeared over Gdynia, Cracow and Katowice.


  At 5:11 a.m., Hitler issued a proclamation to the Wehrmacht, justifying the attack. “The series of border violations,” he said, “which are unbearable to a great power, prove that the Poles no longer are willing to respect the German frontier. In order to put an end to this frantic activity, no other means is left to me now than to meet force with force.”


  At 8: 00 a.m., exactly twelve hours after the incident at Gleiwitz, the Wehrmacht was already deep inside Poland. The “Pole” on the steps of the radio station was no longer alone in death. At 9:10 a.m., an army ambulance drove into Gleiwitz, returning the first three German casualties. Two were wounded. The third man was dead on arrival. The world was at war again.


  For Poland, the war was to last just twenty-seven days. Never before had a major military power been subdued so rapidly and with such finality. How was it possible, military experts asked, for a nation of thirty-two million people to melt away before the German attack? Nobody in his right mind expected the hapless Poles to succeed single-handed in driving back the Nazis, but some did expect that the Polish resistance would be longer and more costly for the Germans.


  Within twenty-four hours after Hitler launched his Blitzkrieg, seventy-five per cent of the Polish planes were destroyed — most of them in their hangars. The Nazis forestalled aid from Britain and France by destroying every Polish airfield equipped to receive military craft. In the first few days of the campaign the Germans smashed Polish communication lines and railroad bridges behind the Polish lines. Army transports operating on secret schedules were located by the Luftwaffe planes and bombed at their terminals. Mobilization centers and staging stations, presumably known only to the upper echelons of the Polish High Command, were found by German planes and smashed. Munitions dumps and oil stores, to the last isolated gasoline depot, were blasted. Nothing of military significance escaped.


  Among the mysteries, the case of Leczyca was the most enigmatic. Leczyca was a town of only ten thousand people in the district of Lodz, off the beaten path of armies, devoid, it seemed, of anything of interest to an invader. It had a garrison of only one hundred and fifty soldiers and even they had been hastily sent to the front, leaving the town without a single soldier. And yet, squadron after squadron appeared over the small city, until Leczyca had the unhappy distinction of being the most intensely bombed area for its size in the world.


  Staff officers asked themselves why the Nazis were dropping tons of bombs on such a singularly wasteful objective. Sixteen air raids failed to solve the puzzle. The seventeenth told the tale. While it was in progress, the countryside suddenly quaked and roared with a cataclysmic explosion. The city was destroyed; hardly a window was left intact within a radius of fifty miles.


  The Germans had touched off one of the largest secret munitions dumps in Poland. Its very existence was known only to a few of the highest Polish officers. How did the Germans know about it?


  The answer was given by inference a few days after the conclusion of the campaign. A group of foreign newspapermen was taken on a conducted tour to the ruins of Warsaw, and Colonel von Wedel, their guide from the High Command’s press section, was asked to explain the secret of this amazing success. The colonel answered with unusual candor: “Victory was due to our superior arms and to our superior intelligence service.”


  Intelligence and espionage have figured prominently in all of history’s great wars, but never before had the debt the warlords owed to their spies been so publicly acknowledged.


  The tragedy of Leczyca was an illustration of what von Wedel meant. For several years before the war, a German spy had been stationed in Leczyca to keep an eye on the city’s great secret. On the day of reckoning, Leczyca was among the first targets of the Luftwaffe. The dump was skillfully concealed. Despite the beam of the local agent’s radio on which the planes flew to their target, it escaped sixteen raids. But so certain were the Germans of their information that they returned for the fatal seventeenth time.


  The same accuracy prevailed elsewhere. Military trains, for example, do not operate on timetable schedules, and their destinations are known only to a few. Yet the bombing of Polish rail communications was carried out with uncanny exactness. On September 5, for instance, an army transport left Warsaw’s Central Station en route to the front. Its secret routing called for its arrival at Praga station, on the other side of the river, fifteen minutes later. A few minutes before the train was due at Praga, German planes appeared from nowhere and bombed the station out of existence. The transport was marooned, blocking the progress of following trains. A single spy, planted within the stationmaster’s office in Warsaw, operating a clandestine transmitter, had alerted the Germans and thus prevented thousands of troops from reaching the front.


  Obviously, someone was turning a new page in the annals of war. There was more to Germany’s military might than met the eye. The secret mission of Gruppenfuehrer Naujocks that ushered in the greatest war in history somehow became the bizarre symbol of a new kind of war.


  This fresh conflict had a mysterious, intriguing new dimension. Deep in its bowels fought a brand new army, organized well in advance to fight in a brand new war.


  It was an army of spies.


  To be sure, throughout all recorded history spies have played an important part in both diplomacy and warfare, but never before like this.


  As World War II was about to break, an American historian of the secret service drew up an estimate of the world’s espionage population and found that there was hardly a white spot left on the map. The globe was covered with intelligence officers, secret agents, femmes fatales, confidential informants, troublemakers, and police spies.


  This was a remarkable increase, if only because espionage is by no means an activity whose growth should normally keep pace with the growth of mankind and the progress of civilization. The halcyon days of espionage were supposed to be over. In fact, they were just beginning.


  
    2: The Fox in His Lair

  


  On August 31, 1939, the Wehrmacht, deployed for the campaign in Poland, sizzled with excitement and tension. But in a plain, tastelessly furnished office in Berlin, a small, sallow man with snow-white hair sat back and relaxed. To Wilhelm Canaris, the actual outbreak of war was an anticlimax. He had worked long and hard to pave the way for it; now battles that the Wehrmacht still had to win or lose were far behind him. He and his men had fought their own underground war with enormous determination and rare skill. Though they had lost some skirmishes, they had won most of the battles. Now they felt confident they would win the war.


  Who was this man, this great captain and brain of the vast underground army? Certainly the most important spymaster of World War H, Canaris was also one of its most controversial characters. “Seldom,” wrote a former high official of the German secret service, “has a figure of historical importance been judged with so many contrasting verdicts as the small, silent, eccentric figure. Admiral Wilhelm Canaris, the chief of the German Military Intelligence Services.”


  His enemies regard Canaris as the sinister originator of the Hitler regime’s vilest crimes. His friends eulogize him as the spiritual leader of the pathetic anti-Nazi movement, a man who died a martyr for his courage and convictions. And there are those who brand him a traitor whose betrayal of the Wehrmacht in its darkest hour was directly responsible for Germany’s defeat.


  A lot of nonsense has been written about Canaris. He has been portrayed as Germany’s greatest mystery man of all time — the sly link between the intrigues and cabals of the two world wars. He was said to have been one of the lovers of Mata Hari and has been called “the admiral who never wore a uniform,” though he spent the greater part of his adult life in that of the German Navy. He has been described as a humanitarian and moralist, but also as a lifelong intriguer.


  In fact, the greater part of Canaris’ life was humdrum. He was born at Aplerbeck near Dortmund, in the heart of the Ruhr, on January 1, 1887, the youngest of three children of a prosperous mining engineer. It may be symbolic that in his youth he received the nickname “Kiecker,” which in English would mean either “Peeper” or “Snooper.” Young Wilhelm joined the navy and, during the First World War, dabbled in intelligence work, though it was not yet his specialty. He commanded a U-boat in World War I, and after the war the old battleship Schlesien. Then came the last sinecure, a gentle hint that his navy had no more use for him. In the early thirties, he was given a shore assignment as commandant of Swinemuende, an insignificant naval station on the Baltic, where he had a couple of coastal guns and nothing but seagulls to shoot.


  Then, suddenly and inexplicably, on January 1, 1935, he succeeded Captain Konrad Patzig as the head of the Abwehr, the military intelligence service. Canaris was forty-eight, but he seemed far older. He was small, soft boned and slender, had a quiet voice and leisurely gestures, his shallow skin furrowed by wrinkles, his hair snow-white. His subordinates called him der Alte — “the Old Man.”


  Canaris was continually pulled to and fro between the amorality of his job and his innate moralism, between a mystic belief in chance and a meticulous dedication to purpose. He was a good man and a weak one, an opportunist and a compromiser, forever vacillating between firmness and procrastination. His character was mirrored in everything he did, even in his pursuit of his favorite sport, sailing. “He always keeps close to the wind,” a friend once said, “and sails forever with sloppy sails.”


  He was sensitive to a degree which, as someone remarked, was “incompatible with his choice of the career of an officer and which caused him to regard force and any expression of force with horror.” Perhaps because he was himself so unsoldierly in appearance, he looked with aversion upon dashing officers. The mere sight of a decoration on a soldier’s chest provoked him to sardonic outbursts and sufficed to bar the man from his entourage. He preferred to wear civilian clothes and he surrounded himself with officers who were as non-military as possible.


  His inner sanctum on the top floor of the Abwehr building, called by insiders Fuchsbau or “Fox Lair,” reflected the hodgepodge of this strange man’s character. Its furnishings had no style or taste. On his desk stood a little piece of bric-a-brac which Canaris had chosen as the symbol of the Abwehr: the familiar little statue of three monkeys who hear, see and speak no evil. One wall was covered with a big map of the world. On the other walls hung three pictures: an autographed photograph of Generalissimo Franco (reflecting his consuming love of Spain, his adopted country, whose civil war in 1937 he helped to ignite); a Japanese painting of the devil; and a picture of his favorite dachshund, Seppl.


  This strange man had neither friends nor confidants, but he was inordinately fond of dogs. His concern for his canine companions once threw his adversaries into confusion. Traveling with an assumed name on a fake passport, Canaris visited Spain in 1936 to plot the coming rebellion. The Republican police spotted him and tapped his telephone, for Canaris occasionally committed the apparent indiscretion of calling Berlin long-distance.


  The Spanish monitor heard him talking about an ailing dog, and receiving from someone in Berlin a detailed report on the pet’s bowel movement. The police were positive this was a clever code and cryptoanalysts burned the midnight oil trying to decipher it. They couldn’t. Canaris really was talking about a sick dachshund.


  Canaris personified the secret service at its worst. He was a politician, therein violating the very first rule of the secret service by using the information his agency procured as a weapon for his own plots. He came into the Abwehr a convinced Nazi, then drifted away from Hitler and wound up in a conspiracy against him. He is now frequently described as one of the top leaders of the anti-Nazi plot, but his real contribution consisted of omissions rather than commissions. He let the Nazis plant their spies within the Abwehr and permitted the anti-Nazis to plot behind his back. And he tried, with a good deal of success, to use both groups for his own ends.


  In the end the Nazis hanged him on a specially constructed gallows with thin piano wire to deepen and prolong the agony of his death. Hanging may be, as Wotton remarked, the worst use a man can be put to, but it seems reasonable that he deserved his savage death.


  But on September 1, 1939, he was still years from this mildly elevated terminal point of his career. In fact, he was at the pinnacle of his power and fame — because, strangely enough for a man of mystery, Canaris was internationally famous. The Abwehr was Hitler’s greatest prop and Canaris was one of his most valuable accomplices.


  In a semi-official history of the Abwehr, Paul Leverkuehn, a Hamburg lawyer who served as an intelligence officer throughout the war, wrote of Canaris: “He was more than the titular head of the Abwehr. It was very largely his creation, and when he was removed it began rapidly to disintegrate. In fact it would not be a great exaggeration to say that the Abwehr was Canaris, and Canaris was the Abwehr.


  On the eve of war Canaris had a permanent staff of eighteen thousand men and women, with additional thousands in the field serving as confidential informants.


  Canaris himself stood alone at the apex of this hierarchy. Under him were five major sections. There was the Central Section, headed by that courageous and determined anti-Nazi, Colonel Hans Oster, the executive officer of this labyrinthine web. The Foreign Section, under Captain Buerkner, maintained liaison with foreign powers. Section II, under Colonel von Lahousen, was responsible for sabotage and other underhanded secret operations. Section III was charged with Abwehr in the true sense of the term — security, counter-espionage, and counter-sabotage.


  Secret intelligence (including espionage) was the responsibility of Section I, also called Geheimer Meldedienst, or Secret Information Service. It was organized in three “subsections” (one each for the army, navy and air force) and five groups. Among these. Group I-G developed ingeniously concealed weapons, extraordinary methods of microphotography, invulnerable secret inks; it forged passports and manufactured all the sinister paraphernalia indispensable to the efficient functioning of a secret service. Group I-I was in charge of wireless communications, including the design of clandestine radio equipment for agents in the field (the so-called Afus) and the organization of secret (black) radio networks.


  Section I had a relatively small staff at headquarters in Berlin, in a five-story stucco building on the Tirpitzufer. In the field, it maintained an enormous network of so-called V-men (the “V” standing for “Vertrauen,” or confidential, in this context). Many were permanent resident agents; still more worked on a temporary, hit-and-run basis. The majority of the V-men were volunteers whose chief motive in aiding the Nazis was their sympathy for Hitler’s New Order. A handful were mercenary spies, but they were not paid well, on the sound theory that the best intelligence cannot be bought.


  But no matter how firmly entrenched Canaris seemed at the apex of this hierarchy, he knew that his lonely place was perilous. He would have been indeed a negligent spymaster had he not known of a danger that threatened both himself and the Abwehr: Reinhard Heydrich, the young boss of the Gestapo whose Sicherheitsdienot (security service) was a vulgar imitation of Canaris’ Abwehr.


  The Abwehr’s chief function was to defend Germany from foreign opponents by aggressive espionage and defensive counter-espionage. Heydrich’s SD, designed to defend the Reich from the “inner foe,” was supposed to perform largely police intelligence functions. But this demarcation could not be maintained. Beneath a veneer of collaboration, and even personal friendship, Canaris and Heydrich battled for control.


  Heydrich was determined to dismantle the Abwehr until it was confined to military intelligence. Although this plan was based primarily on professional ambition, he also had a personal reason for disliking Canaris. Heydrich was Canaris’ junior by seventeen years, but both men were products of the German navy. There was one difference: Canaris had risen to the rank of rear admiral and left the navy with honors and dignity; Heydrich made the grade of a junior lieutenant, then foundered and was kicked out.


  Though he was now in a position of enormous power, Heydrich’s hurt pride still made him self-conscious with Canaris, in whom he saw the navy personified.


  For his part, Canaris went to considerable lengths to carry out his instructions and make Heydrich happy. He encouraged Heydrich to visit him at his home, persuaded him to become his neighbor in a Berlin suburb, and cultivated an apparently warm social relationship. But he was thoroughly contemptuous of the young Nazi, and Canaris had a trump card, as secret services usually do. He had evidence in the little safe he kept in his private office in the Fuchsbau that this fanatical, Jew-baiting Nazi bloodhound, Heydrich himself, was partly Jewish in origin.


  The Nazi espionage service pitted against the Abwehr was a catch-all organization, called Reichs Sicherheits Haupt-Amt, or RSHA for short, the Main Department of Reichs Security.


  Headed by Heinrich Himmler, it was organized in major branches whose functions and duties ranged from the selection and training of personnel to weird medical experiments using inmates of concentration camps as human guinea pigs. Its Sections IV and V performed police functions. Section IV was the dreaded Gestapo, headed by Heinrich Mueller, set up to combat opposition to the regime, to persecute the churches and the Jews and also to carry out the usual police supervision of all ports of egress and ingress. Section V was the Kriminalpolizei, or Kripo of Arthur Nebbe, the Reich’s orthodox criminal police.


  Intelligence and espionage were concentrated in the SD Sections III (Inland) and VI (Foreign), over which Reinhard Heydrich ruled supreme. The Nazis’ aggressive espionage was a job reserved for his Section VI, the notorious Amt Sechs, where he was aided by a shrewd, opportunistic intellectual named Walther Schellenberg, a pinch-faced little busybody whose cold efficiency and penchant for methodical intrigue well supplemented Heydrich’s broader approach to the activity.


  Section VI was developed step by step, until it became the Nazi counterpart of the Wehrmacht’s cloistered Abwehr, a secret service in all but name, complete to functional and regional sub-sections patterned after the Abwehr’s structure. Though considerably smaller than the Abwehr, Heydrich’s agency actually duplicated its functions, frequently arrogating to itself prerogatives which should have been exclusive to the Canaris organization.


  Heydrich’s ideas ran along unorthodox lines. To him, the direct approach was contemptible because it was too simple. His secret service was constantly teeming with weird plans for savage enterprises. Even those few he succeeded in translating into practice sufficed to establish Heydrich as one of the most insidious, but undeniably one of the most brilliant, spymasters of this nefarious age.


  In a sense, Heydrich is the most misunderstood and underrated figure in the espionage history of World War II. Although it is Canaris’ picture that is etched on the imagination of the world as Germany’s master spy, Heydrich certainly gave him a run for first place. Some even think Heydrich surpassed Canaris in the efficiency and effectiveness of his operations, although this remains, in the nature of these things, a moot question.


  Everything about this man was obscure or mysterious, including his origin. He was born in Halle in 1904 to the director of the Music Academy, whose name was listed in a contemporary directory as “Bruno Richard Heydrich (properly called Suess).” It was this parenthetical addendum in the old directory that made Heydrich reticent about his birth and youth. “Suess” was a common Jewish name in (Germany.


  Too young for war in 1914-18, he joined a terrorist youth organization after the peace and at the age of fifteen already had a reputation as a proficient assassin. He joined the navy as a cadet, advanced to the rank of lieutenant, but was then abruptly cashiered. He had several love affairs running simultaneously, including one with the daughter of a naval architect. When the young lady became pregnant, her father demanded that Heydrich marry her. The lieutenant refused in righteous indignation. He would never marry a woman, he said, who succumbed so easily to a seducer. The naval architect took the case to Admiral Raeder and Heydrich was discharged.


  He entered the Nazi movement and found a place inside the Party’s intelligence organization and an opportunity to rise through blackmail. He learned that a high-ranking Prussian official was secretly corresponding with Hitler’s arch rival within the Nazi Party, the ill-fated party theoretician Gregor Strasser. Heydrich courted the official’s wife and became her lover. Between amorous embraces in the lady’s apartment, he discovered the hiding place of the incriminating letters and stole the correspondence.


  Armed with these letters, he extorted a place for himself with the Munich Elite Guard. After that, his rise was rapid. He was not yet twenty-seven years old in 1931 when he was made chief of the Party’s special intelligence division and commandant of its goons, raw-boned giants of blonde Nordic appearance and of ruthless, sadistic disposition.


  Young as Heydrich was, he looked still younger; powerful as he was, he thirsted for still more power. He was tall, lean, with an excellent figure which made him look extremely well in the sleek, black SS uniform. His beardless face gave him a somewhat effeminate appearance, but that impression was quickly destroyed by his eyes, which were frigid and mirrored a truly cynical soul. Wilhelm Hoettl, who served under him in the SD, compared Heydrich with Cesare Borgia, “Both men”, he said, “were imbued with the same complete disregard for all ethical values, both possessed the same passion for power, the same cold intelligence, the same frigidity of heart, the same systematically calculated ambition and even the same physical beauty of a fallen angel.”


  Heydrich looms large in the history of contemporary secret service because, in an age of enlightened and mechanized intrigue, he was the only practitioner of medieval, brute cabal. His life was an unbroken chain of murders. He had people put to death on the principle that a dead enemy is better than a live one, and he made no squeamish distinction between proven foes and presumed friends. He liquidated people he instinctively disliked, colleagues he thought might endanger his rise, Nazis he regarded as untrustworthy.


  His achievements even before the war were phenomenal, but they were trivial compared with his later victories. The war he helped to “justify” was to give him great opportunities. He looked forward to it with a glutton’s anticipation of an epicurean meal.


  
    3: Canaris Paves the Way

  


  Hans Piekenbrock looked like a prosperous wine merchant, but he was a spymaster of superb competence. A fun-loving, jovial Rhinelander, he was a colonel of the German General Staff and the chief of Canaris’ Section I, the branch of the Abwehr charged with espionage. He was a tall, heavy-set man, broad-shouldered, bluff and immensely popular with his subordinates, who called him “Pieki.” There were few missions they would not undertake for him.


  Because Canaris had little time or inclination to deal with the detail work of Section I, preferring the rarefied atmosphere of political and diplomatic intelligence, Piekenbrock enjoyed great autonomy and he made the most of it.


  The vital secrets of Germany’s actual and potential enemies were in his files. Because of the enormous difficulties of obtaining secret intelligence from inside the Soviet Union, Piekenbrock chose to neglect the U.S.S.R. He did manage from time to time to smuggle agents into the Soviet Union and a few of them did succeed in returning, but the bulk of his information was developed by reading between the lines of Soviet publications, by interviewing returning travelers and by that other effective means of remote control, desk-bound intelligence.


  Piekenbrock had his difficulties in other sensitive areas as well. The Foreign Ministry, anxious to avoid friction with Britain, France and the United States (to lull them into complacency and keep them out of war), muted the Section’s espionage activities in those countries. Until 1936, the service had been actually forbidden to maintain a network in Britain. Not until 1937, when Canaris personally appealed to Hitler, was the Abwehr permitted to spy against England without restrictions.


  Less than two years sufficed to build up the Abwehr files on Britain, with exact details of the country’s small peacetime army, the complex RAF and the sprawling Royal Navy. During those prewar years, the Special Branch of Scotland Yard and M.I.5 of the War Office’s Intelligence Directorate (the two major British counter-espionage organs) managed to unmask a j number of petty spies, but the big fish evaded them. The backbone of German espionage in Britain was not broken until the outbreak of the Second World War.


  England was not even a major target of the Abwehr. France was considered far more important. It was the traditional enemy and the historic stamping ground of German spies.


  The Abwehr’s tactics against France were not new at all. Bismarck’s secret agent. Dr. Wilhelm Stieber, prepared for the Franco-Prussian war of 1870 by moving thirty thousand spies into France in 1869. France was similarly pre-invaded on the eve of the First World War.


  On the eve of the Second World War, the pattern was the same. Even Churchill was fooled. On August 15th, only nineteen days before the outbreak of the war with France, he was taken by General Georges, commander-in-chief of the French armies in the field, to inspect the Maginot Line. Upon his return, Churchill presented a confidential report to the War Office.


  “The French Front cannot be surprised,” he wrote. “It cannot be broken at any point except by an effort which would be enormously costly in life, and would take so much time that the general situation would be transformed while it was in progress,”


  But the Line Churchill described as “unbreakable” had already been broken — not by German Landsers, who were to accomplish this feat only a few months later — but by the agents of Pieki and Canaris.


  A special branch was set up in Section I for the exclusive purpose of cracking the secrets of the Maginot Line. Innumerable surreptitious approaches were made and several German agents, sent boldly against the target, were caught. The Abwehr’s persistent efforts were finally crowned with success, due to the corruption of two French officers in key positions. One was a Captain Credle, aide to the commanding officer of the Metz sector of the fortifications, from whom — by way of an agent de liaison, an Alsatian named Paul Denz — the Germans received a partial blueprint of the Line. Conclusive information was procured from another French traitor named Georges Froge, an army captain in charge of provisioning the troops of the Line. By frequent travels up and down the system, and by access to maps and papers containing the vital statistics of those garrisons, Captain Froge gained extensive knowledge of the Maginot Line.


  Froge was a strangely wayward man who looked with sympathetic eyes at the totalitarian system of the Nazis. With so much knowledge of his country’s defenses and so little sympathy for its political system, he became a natural target for the Germans.


  As soon as he had been “fingered” as a potential spy with invaluable information, the Germans embarked on “Operation Z,” as the special maneuver to ensnare Forge came to be called. It was discovered that the captain was in straitened financial circumstances and loved money as much as he hated his country. After that it did not take long to land Captain Froge.


  Confirmation of his information came into the Abwehr’s possession accidentally, the morning after the occupation of Prague in 1939. Marching with the German army into the Czechoslovak capital were special agents of the Abwehr under orders to seize intact the files of the Czechoslovak General Staff, especially the archives of its Second Section. Contact was promptly established with a traitor in the Czech General Staff, Colonel Emanuel Morawetz, who took his Abwehr friends to a hidden safe in which the Czechs kept, not their own, but France’s greatest secret — the complete blueprint of the Maginot Line.


  How this blueprint came to be in that safe is a story in itself. When the Czechs decided to build their own system of fortifications and to pattern it after the Maginot Line, a Czech technical commission was permitted to inspect the French Line and make detailed drawings of anything they liked. The Czechs had added their own estimates to the blueprint, annotated, analyzed and criticized the French system and, in one of those General Staff “exercises,” even demonstrated how it could be pierced.


  The second most important item on the Abwehr’s shopping list was the French navy. With agents based in Belgium, Section IM (Piekenbrock’s naval intelligence division) made a systematic survey of the French fleet and French coast, from battleships to speedboats, from the Channel to Cannes. The intelligence was supplied by a network of agents created especially for the purpose. A few of these were Frenchmen. One, a handsome young naval lieutenant of excellent family, fell into the arms of a pretty Abwehr decoy, a certain Lydia Oswald, who was delegated to seduce him. The lieutenant had access to the private files of Admiral Darlan, commander-in-chief of the French navy.


  This source was remarkable, not only for the quality of the intelligence supplied, but for the speed with which it was transmitted. At one point during the crisis Darlan dictated an order to mobilize the fleet. The lieutenant got hold of it and four hours later the Abwehr received the order — before it reached the French fleet. And in 1939 an Abwehr agent named Otto Bakes had returned to Berlin with a list of every single French airport and a detailed report on the planes and men at each. The man from whom Bakes obtained this detailed intelligence was a young captain of the French air force, working in the cabinet of Pierre Cot, the Minister of Air. Like so many before him, he had turned traitor for love as well as money. He was lured into the trap by an attractive Alsatian decoy working as a midinette on Rue de la Paix. When she became his full-time mistress — a liaison that needed far more money than the captain earned — Baltes stepped in to supply the cash. In return he received the precious report.


  This was the last scrap of intelligence Canaris needed to complete the French dossier. It now included everything the German High Command needed to know about France.


  Despite this traditional preoccupation with France, the busiest desk of the whole Abwehr was the Polish Branch of Colonel Piekenbrocks’ Section. Poland was an ideal hunting preserve. Many German nationals lived in Poland, and the colonel shrewdly organized them into a special Meldedienst, an ad hoc information service. He also established long before the war a so-called “covering network” — a veritable spiderweb of confidential agents. This was spread across the land and included every point of military interest. This was a dormant network. The agents had instructions to remain quiescent in order to avoid detection, and to go into action only in emergencies or when they happened to have information of extraordinary importance. They were to be saved for the coming war.


  In addition, Piekenbrock organized a special group in Poland to report on the Polish army. Very few of these were Germans; the majority were native Poles who, with a variety of motives, had decided to betray their country to the Germans.


  For several years before the war, Piekenbrock’s talent scouts combed Poland for recruits. The colonel did not find it difficult to recruit a sizable army of traitors. A large number of senior officers and important officials actually volunteered their services. But the German-Polish espionage contest was not quite a one-way street. The Poles also displayed industry, ingenuity, and even some efficiency in espionage. Up to the war itself, they scored as many coups against the Germans as did the Abwehr against Poland.


  Section II (Intelligence) of the Polish General Staff was a big and powerful organization. Housed in the heart of Warsaw in a battered, mystery-shrouded, gloomy old building on Pilsudskego Square, it had reports that presented as good a picture of Germany and the Wehrmacht as the Germans had of Poland and the Polish army.


  The major outpost of Polish Intelligence, specializing in Germany, was located in Bromberg, not far from the German border. It had eleven subsidiary branches, including one in Danzig. The Poles even succeeded in penetrating to the heart of the Danzig substation of the Abwehr. They achieved this with the hoary methods of old-fashioned espionage, using a pretty woman as a decoy — one Clara Shebinska. A comely Polish lady, as so many Polish ladies are, Clara lived in Danzig and held down a humdrum secretarial job with a firm that was above suspicion.


  But she had been planted in the Free City for the specific purpose of striking up friendships with the gentlemen of the Abwehr. She was well-briefed and supplied with incidental intelligence about the personal habits of the Lotharios she was expected to entrap. Her major asset was, of course, her voluptuous beauty: she was a petite blonde with a round baby face, startled big brown eyes, sensuous lips, and a figure as well-rounded as her education. She was vivacious, infinitely charming, and evidently blessed with a romantic disposition.


  She frequented the haunts of the Abwehr people, was picked up by several of them and soon enough was on intimate terms with the resident manager of the local Abwehr office. She knew how to coax from her lover abundant information about the Abwehr’s activities in Danzig, and even inside Poland. Behind the Danzig operation, and the generally brilliant performance of the entire Bromberg network, was a strange individual. He was called Zychon, although that may not have been his real name. He was a professional soldier, totally unknown to the world at large, but in the Polish army he was famous and respected. Even his enemies conceded that he was by far the best intelligence officer the Poles had. And yet (now in his forties), he was still only a major, a perennial major.


  Zychon was always passed over when the promotions were handed out because he was an eccentric and an iconoclast. He was constantly stepping on sensitive toes, crossing up the schemes of others, insulting his superiors, and in general making mockery of discipline and rules. In appearance, he looked like a hobo; in manners, he was a bum.


  He would have been cashiered long before had he not been indispensable. Just when it was decided to retire or court-martial him for one or another of his astounding capers, he would come through with one of his phenomenal scoops. He didn’t care. He was always drunk.


  Zychon was a dipsomaniac and probably also a lunatic. He dispensed with secrecy in the most secretive of all professions. As soon as he arrived in Danzig, for instance, he would put in a call to his German opposite number to announce his presence in town. Sometimes he would chat amiably with the German, his shoptalk abounding in tantalizing loose ends. More often he would call his antagonist to curse him roundly in the most un- couth fashion. On these occasions, the German would say, “That damned fool Zychon is drunk again”, and never was there more truth in a piece of incidental intelligence.


  From time to time, the Germans tried to infiltrate the Bromberg network by exploiting one or another of Zychon’s weaknesses, and once in a while they seemed to be on the verge of success. But just when the arrangements appeared concluded, Zychon would disappoint them. This caustic jester was no fool. He was a king of spies.


  It, therefore, caused a profound sensation within the Abwehr when Subsection East reported to topside in Berlin that vague feelers had come from the Zychon organization that held out the promise of a real break. At first it appeared that Major Zychon himself was putting out the feelers, but when contact was established with the would-be traitor, he turned out to be Zychon’s second in command, Captain Kasimir Tolodzietzki.


  He offered a plausible explanation for his defection: hatred of his capricious boss. Tolodzietzki was Zychon’s whipping boy and scapegoat. The major made life miserable for his hapless aide and gradually built up in him a blind rancor. Tolodzietzki may not have intended to harm Poland, but merely to hurt Zychon. His plot was simple. He would slip some intelligence to the Abwehr in order to get Zychon into hot water. He so arranged his treachery as to make it appear that the major was the real culprit. Then he wrote poison-pen letters to Warsaw hinting that Zychon was involved in sordid deals with the Germans. His zeal finally became so great that he put the Germans on their guard. The Abwehr suspected that Tolodzietzki was merely a plant through whom Zychon was trying to smuggle misleading information into the Abwehr’s files.


  Just as the Germans were set to drop Tolodzietzki altogether, the Poles stepped in and proved that the German suspicions were without foundation. His aide’s defection had not escaped Zychon. Tolodzietzki was placed under surveillance and his treacherous activities were discovered. He was arrested and hanged. The Poles made the mistake of publicizing the hanging. The execution opened the Germans’ eyes. The reports they had refused to regard as genuine were now vindicated, dusted off, and, in due course, made their contribution to the German triumph over Poland.


  Another major source of information for the Germans was an officer of the Polish army whose identity is still clouded in secrecy. He managed to escape Tolodzietzki’s fate, and the Germans, in their gratitude, still refuse to identify him. This man also volunteered his services to the Abwehr and offered to enlist a number of Polish officers to act as spies. He, too, was received with a great deal of suspicion and at first his offer was rejected. After the Tolodzietzki affair, however, the Germans realized their mistake and tried frantically to re-establish contact with the volunteer. What with the mills of espionage grinding rather slowly, they needed more than two years to regain contact, which was finally made at a most crucial time — on the eve of the Second World War.


  After that, everything worked smoothly. The agent delivered to the Abwehr a number of Polish officers stationed at key posts and from them, bit by bit, the Germans acquired the entire Polish mobilization order and deployment plan.


  Thus Canaris’ organization delivered to Hitler all he needed to know about France and Poland. His Eastern flank was protected by the Nazi-Soviet pact. There was only one more thing he wanted — the neutrality of Britain.


4: Stagnation in the Allied Camp



In stark contrast to the sprawling secret services of Hitler,
the democratic countries either had no intelligence services worthy
of the name or maintained severely constricted, hibernating
organizations. The French and British services were in the latter
category. They subsisted largely on shoestring appropriations and
coasted on past prestige with the inevitable consequences. To put
it bluntly, both the French and British secret services were just
plain bad, totally inadequate to the challenge and demands of those
fateful years.

In France, which had produced Joseph Fouche, one of history’s
most nefarious spymasters, intelligence was a traditional
instrument of power, but it was practiced as an art rather than an
exact science. In line with the chaotic organization of the French
government and the jealousy-ridden, predatory bureaucracy of its
permanent officials, intelligence was decentralized and
compartmentalized. Each service kept aloof from the others and
actually frowned upon liaison or co-operation for fear that concord
might compromise autonomy.

In 1939, France had a galaxy of truly brilliant ambassadors
stationed at the key capitals. Men Uke Andre Francois-Poncet and
Robert Coulondre, successive ambassadors in Berlin during these
stormy days, were fully capable of procuring their own information
and evaluating it in their reports to the Quai d’Orsay, but they
had no control over what was done with their reports back home. In
the French table of organization, intelligence per se was regarded
as the responsibility of the armed forces; accordingly, the major
intelligence services were lodged deep within the military
establishment.

On the eve of the Second World War, France had four major
intelligence services, but no agency to co-ordinate or synchronize
them. The army had two, the Second and Fifth Sections of the
General Staff; the former engaged in general intelligence and
strategic evaluation; the latter, in espionage and
counter-espionage. The navy had its parallel intelligence division.
The Air Ministry had a somewhat smaller intelligence section,
probably the best of the lot, because, being the youngest, it was
not yet encumbered by traditional impediments.

By virtue of its age, influence and adeptness at arrogating
power to itself, the army’s Bureau de Renseignement — the Second
Bureau — came to occupy a central positi [...]
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